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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          3  much. I'm Gale Brewer, and I am the Chair of the

          4  Committee on Technology In Government, and this is a

          5  joint hearing of the Parks Committee. Very soon

          6  Council Member Foster, who is Chair of Parks will be

          7  joining us. I did see Council Member Addabbo here a

          8  few minutes ago, and we'll introduce colleagues as

          9  they come in.

         10                 We have a great staff here, certainly

         11  Jeff Baker, who is Counsel to the Committee on

         12  Technology In Government; Fredy Kaplan, Counsel to

         13  the Committee on Parks and Recreation; Colleen

         14  Pagter and Patrick Mulvilhill are the Policy

         15  Analysts, and some of you know Bruce Lai, who is at

         16  a technology conference that we just both were at

         17  earlier today. Council Member Addabbo, thank you

         18  very much for being here today. You know and love

         19  parks like all of us, and I appreciate that.

         20                 So, we're here to talk about an

         21  oversight committee on wireless Internet service in

         22  public parks. So, I'll just go through the

         23  powerpoint and then we'll be honored to hear from

         24  the Parks Department.

         25                 In terms of broadband in New York
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          2  City, what it is becoming is sort of unwired, some

          3  of us call, it's a complicated topic, but for today

          4  unwired would be the appropriate usage of broadband.

          5  In New York City it stands at less than 40 percent

          6  across the State, and we actually heard the Attorney

          7  General talk about that earlier today at CUNY.

          8  Adoption rates are even lower in the other boroughs,

          9  I shouldn't say outer, and small businesses.

         10                 In terms of the benefits of the

         11  broadband, it's now I think becoming a necessity

         12  that improves the quality of life for all residents.

         13                 It can provide an outline to the

         14  community, enhance the user's interaction with

         15  government. We call that e-government. Supply

         16  accurate medical and health care information. We've

         17  been talking about that in terms of some of the

         18  initiatives this year, affords students the

         19  opportunity to supplement classroom learning with

         20  at-home media resources. Groups like Computers For

         21  Youth have been looking at this for quite some time

         22  and MOUSE. Municipal governments around the country

         23  have been partnering with the private sector to

         24  enliven local telecommunications and broadband

         25  markets. We hope very much that the COAT bill in
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          2  Washington doesn't stop any of that.

          3                 In terms of the parks, right now we

          4  have about ten free public wireless networks in

          5  parks, and open spaces throughout the City. I think

          6  NYC Wireless will talk about Washington Square Park,

          7  Tompkins Square Park and Bryant Park. It's not

          8  listed here, but I know that the Borough of

          9  Manhattan Community College has done a wonderful job

         10  with the park right near them. And I think also City

         11  Hall Park has been wired, and we'll hear more about

         12  that.

         13                 The Parks Department released an RFP,

         14  Request for Proposal in 2003 for the development and

         15  maintenance of wireless Internet access in 15

         16  locations in eight parks in all five boroughs. And

         17  then in 2006, the Parks Department released a second

         18  RFP for service in six additional parks. I hope one

         19  of them was in Mr. Addabbo's Office, Mr. Addabbo's

         20  district.

         21                 June 2003 RFP, terms of this earlier

         22  RFP in all 15 locations, all 15 locations awarded

         23  together, one award to a proposer providing wireless

         24  Internet access to subscribing patrons. That's how

         25  it was worded. One award to a proposer providing
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          2  wireless Internet access for a usage fee or for

          3  free.

          4                 No deadline to commence service.

          5  These are all issues that are being worked out

          6  across the country, actually. Selling or advertising

          7  any item is strictly prohibited, absolutely. All

          8  proposal submissions must include a fee offer.

          9  That's also controversial.

         10                 Wi-Fi Salon was the only respondent

         11  to this RFP, or at least they received the RFP. Only

         12  Battery Park currently has Internet service, and

         13  parks expects the remaining seven parks to have

         14  Internet service by August '06.

         15                 The second RFP, February '06, for six

         16  parks in Brooklyn and Manhattan, I don't see Queens

         17  on there, Council member. Parks awarded individually

         18  Internet service to commence within one year of the

         19  contract signing date. All submissions include a fee

         20  offer, proposers are permitted to sell advertising

         21  space on their portal page and three parks have been

         22  awarded to Dag Hammarskjold, which is in Manhattan,

         23  Columbus Park and Brooklyn Bridge Park.

         24                 And, so, what we'll hear in part from

         25  the Parks Department is what has been in response to

                                                            7

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  the RFP, and then their status, why have there been

          3  only two in the last three years, why does Parks

          4  consist on the fee offer, what is the Department's

          5  strategy for future Internet development, and

          6  because I am coughing, let's hear from Parks.

          7                 Go ahead.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Hi. My

          9  name is Bob Garafola. I'm the Deputy Commissioner

         10  for the Parks and Recreation, and I'd like to

         11  acknowledge Mayor Bloomberg, Deputy Mayor Harris,

         12  and Chairwoman Brewer and Council Member Addabbo

         13  today who are here. And other members of the

         14  Committee as they come in.

         15                 On behalf of Commissioner Benepe, I'm

         16  happy to be here today to discuss wireless internet

         17  services in parks. Wireless Internet has the

         18  capacity to bridge the digital divide, connect to

         19  communities across the globe, and add tremendous

         20  levels of convenience to the users of parks.

         21                 While we are interested in all of

         22  these larger issues, our primary responsibility is

         23  to serve New Yorkers and others who visit the City's

         24  28,000 acres of park land. I have testified before

         25  the Parks Committees before in different ways that
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          2  agencies serves parks users, there are ways that we

          3  were all familiar with. We provide recreation and

          4  athletic programming. We provide clean and safe

          5  parks and programs for all New Yorkers to enjoy.

          6                 However, another way in which we

          7  serve park users is by providing a wide range of

          8  services in parks. These services could range from

          9  everything from a small food vendor to a large

         10  restaurant, such as the Low Boathouse Cafe, to an

         11  ice-skating concession.

         12                 We believe that providing wireless

         13  Internet service is one of the newest ways that we

         14  can serve our park users. So much of the modern

         15  world is now centered around the Internet. We use it

         16  to do work, pay bills, find a restaurant or a date.

         17  With wireless Internet access in parks, you can do

         18  all of these things and also get sun, fresh air at

         19  the same time.

         20                 As you might imagine, bringing

         21  wireless Internet service to one of the largest

         22  urban park systems in the country is no easy task.

         23  Today I would like to review the progress we are

         24  making in bringing free wireless Internet service to

         25  New York's great green spaces.
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          2                 In June 2003, Parks released a

          3  Request for Prosposal for the development, operation

          4  and maintenance for wireless Internet service in a

          5  number of high profile parks throughout the City,

          6  including Battery Park, Central Park, Prospect Park,

          7  Van Cortlandt Park and Flushing Meadow Corona Park.

          8                 The RFP defined a term of three years

          9  with three optional years at Parks discretion.

         10                 While the RFP generated a good deal

         11  of interest, only Verizon, Spot On Networks LLC and

         12  the WiFi Salon Consortium submitted proposals. As

         13  with all RFPs selected, a selection committee

         14  reviewed all the submissions. The Selection

         15  Committee consisted of members of the Revenue and

         16  Marketing Teams at Parks, and people from the City's

         17  Department of Information Technology and

         18  Telecommunications, DoITT.

         19                 I should note that DoITT has been an

         20  invaluable resource to the Parks Department on this

         21  initiative, as I'm sure you know our agency's

         22  expertise is in maintaining and programming green

         23  space, not in discussing the finer points of

         24  underlying technology of wireless local area

         25  networks.
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          2                 The Committee believed that Verizon's

          3  experience with wireless tech Internet and financial

          4  capability made them the best candidate. After

          5  reviewing and rating the proposals, Verizon was

          6  awarded the RFP and selected as the concessionaire

          7  in April 2004.

          8                 One month later, Verizon declined the

          9  offer. Following the FCRC policy, the contract was

         10  then awarded to the second highest rate of

         11  submission, the Wi-Fi Salon.

         12                 Parks and the Wi-Fi Salon signed a

         13  permit in October 2004. In summer 2005, they

         14  launched the Battery Park WiFi network, which has

         15  been very successful.

         16                 The Wi-Fi Salon was supposed to have

         17  the rest of the locations up in Fall 2005, but faced

         18  several setbacks, and were forced to reevaluate the

         19  equipment they were using. We have been working with

         20  the Wi-Fi Salon to set new deadlines and issue

         21  specific tasks to ensure they can fulfill their

         22  agreement with the City and bring wireless Internet

         23  access to more parks to accommodate the Salon's

         24  purchase of new equipment. We have extended the

         25  internal deadline to August 2006.
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          2                 We expect Central Park to be launched

          3  this July, and the rest of the parks in the late

          4  summer, early fall. I believe Marshall Brown from

          5  the Wi-Fi Salon is here today, and I am sure that he

          6  will be more than happy to discuss this with you.

          7  His plans.

          8                 As part of our partnership with the

          9  Wi-Fi Salon, each park will have a home page with

         10  information specific to the area.

         11                 When people connect to the network at

         12  these locations their browsers will be directed to

         13  the local porter for that location. Information on

         14  the history of the area, local event listings,

         15  photos, maps and links to multimedia content will be

         16  available.

         17                 We have heard from the community

         18  organizations and friends of groups about expanding

         19  wireless Internet access to other parks. As a

         20  result, we issued a second RFP in February 2006.

         21                 The RFP calls for the development,

         22  including design and installation, operation and

         23  maintenance of a wireless broadband Internet access

         24  technology in various parks throughout Brooklyn and

         25  Manhattan, including Dag Hammarskjold Plaza,
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          2  Brooklyn Heights Promenade, Carroll Park, Columbus

          3  Park, Fort Greene Park and Cobble Hill Park.

          4                 This RFP differs substantially from

          5  the one issued in 2003. Our goal was twofold: to

          6  make the RFP more appealing to prospective

          7  concessionaires and to ensure that access is

          8  provided to New Yorkers in a timely manner. With the

          9  help of DOITT and EDC, Parks was able to refine the

         10  technical language. We also made it possible for

         11  companies or organizations to submit proposals for

         12  one park rather than multiple parks that we had in

         13  the last RFP.

         14                 Finally, we also incorporated

         15  incremental deadlines into the RFP. The company that

         16  is awarded the concession will have to meet these

         17  deadlines.

         18                 The proposals were due in March and

         19  were recently reviewed by the selection committee.

         20  The Friends of Dag Hammarskjold Plaza in conjunction

         21  with New York Wireless has been selected as the

         22  concessionaire for Dag Hammarskjold Plaza. Expert

         23  Communications/Travel Net has been selected as the

         24  concessionaire for Brooklyn Heights Promenada and

         25  Columbus Park. We expect wireless Internet access to
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          2  be up in these three parks by the end of the summer.

          3  And one of the keys to creating successful park

          4  spaces is encouraging positive use. At Parks, we

          5  have welcomed new constituencies with dog runs,

          6  skate parks and courts or fields for non-traditional

          7  sports. This helps keep parks and playgrounds safe

          8  and vibrant. Wi-Fi is another good reason to spend

          9  time in the park and we know more and more New

         10  Yorkers will take advantage of the opportunity to

         11  conduct their business out in the fresh air as it

         12  becomes more readily available.

         13                 I would also like to encourage the

         14  Council to give us any suggestions of sites where

         15  you feel Park Users would utilize Wi-Fi technology.

         16                 We're at the beginning at the

         17  development of Wi-Fi technology in parks and we look

         18  forward to expanding the other park locations.

         19                 I would be happy to answer questions

         20  at this time.

         21                 Also, if I could just introduce some

         22  of the park people that are here today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Please.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: To my

         25  left, Joanne Imohiosen. She is our Assistant
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          2  Commissioner for Revenue and Concessions.

          3                 Andrew Niclan to my right is Deputy

          4  Director for MIS. Daniel King, our Government

          5  Relations liaison. Slater Gray, our supervisor of

          6  concession development, and Tobin Nelson is our

          7  Parks Urban fellow, and he works for me.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. And of

          9  course, we're honored because the Chair of the Parks

         10  Committee has just joined us, and the Co-Chair of

         11  this hearing, Council Member Foster.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me apologize

         13  for being late. It literally took me 15 minutes to

         14  get from Worth and Broadway to right here. I thought

         15  I'd be here at 1:01. So I do apologize. I want to

         16  catch my breath, because I ran up the stairs. And

         17  then we'll get going. You do your thing and then

         18  I'll jump in.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Council Member Addabbo. I know you

         22  had some questions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

         24  And I want to commend both of these committees for

         25  the work they're doing on this issue, obviously to
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          2  make our parks more useful and more enjoyable. So,

          3  again, to the Committees' staff, I thank you very

          4  much. To the Parks Department who are here today,

          5  thank you very much for your time and testimony.

          6  Commissioners, both, it's good to see you.

          7                 Just a couple of questions, first if

          8  we could start with the RFP from 2003. You had

          9  mentioned in your testimony, Commissioner Garafola,

         10  that Battery Park, the Wi-Fi Salon and the Wi-Fi

         11  Network there has been very successful.

         12                 How do you measure success there or

         13  any other park that has this wireless Internet

         14  service? How do you measure success?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Well, I

         16  mean, the system seems to be working. People are

         17  getting access to the Wi-Fi. We haven't had

         18  complaints, and we think it's working pretty well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: No complaints

         20  as far as it not working.

         21                 Do you measure volume in any way? Is

         22  there any way to measure volume?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We'd

         24  have to ask Wi-Fi Salon if they do have volume on

         25  that, in terms of hits to the Wi-Fi. I don't have
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          2  that information with me. But we could find that out

          3  for you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Nobody

          5  physically going to these parks, getting an idea if

          6  they see anybody with laptops or anything like that?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: We

          8  could do that. We haven't done that. We haven't like

          9  counted people doing that, no.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: As far as the

         11  RFP in 2006, released in February; what is the

         12  status of that RFP at this point? I know it's only a

         13  couple of months since, but --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Yes,

         15  what we've done is we've awarded, for the RFP, and

         16  what we got is, we got back in terms of some people

         17  have responded to it, and we've actually awarded for

         18  three places, one is for the Friends of Dag

         19  Hammarskjold Plaza, and they will be working with --

         20  let me just see the organization. New York Wireless

         21  is going to be the organization on that, and we also

         22  have in terms of -- let's see the other one here,

         23  Columbus Park and also, Columbus Park Expert

         24  Communications and Brooklyn Heights Promenade Expert

         25  Communications, as well.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Any response

          3  to the other parks?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: No, we

          5  haven't gotten a response to the other parks, and

          6  that's one of the problems we've been having

          7  recently. We did put out an RFP earlier because we

          8  were approached by Fort Greene Park, people, an

          9  organization from Fort Greene Park. They wanted

         10  Wi-Fi Service there. We put it out for an RFP with

         11  that park alone. We subsequently put it back in on

         12  the latest RFP that we did, and we got no proposals

         13  for that.

         14                 You see, the first time we did it in

         15  2003, we bunched the whole thing. We wanted, if you

         16  want Central Park, if you want some of the larger

         17  parks, you would have to do some of the smaller

         18  parks as well.

         19                 It was sort of a difficult proposal.

         20  We didn't get, you know, that much of a response. So

         21  this time we thought in talking to some of the

         22  providers, we thought we would break it up and try

         23  it that way.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And, again,

         25  I'm going to be a little parochial here. In Queens I
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          2  know Flushing Meadow was mentioned, but nothing as

          3  far as a response to Flushing Meadow Park. I think

          4  they were mentioned in our RFP from 2003.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA:

          6  Flushing Meadow Park is included in the 2003 RFP,

          7  and they should be up and running by the end of the

          8  summer, or the fall.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay, looking

         10  forward to that.

         11                 Again, I'm more concerned to an

         12  extent on how we measure success, you know, as we

         13  expand, and, obviously, it is an expanding project.

         14                 I'd like to obviously hear from the

         15  providers to see what kind of a response they're

         16  getting, as far as how do we measure success, and if

         17  there are issues, how do we go forward in addressing

         18  those issues as this project expands.

         19                 So, again, I appreciate your time and

         20  testimony, and I look forward to the other

         21  witnesses.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

         23  Council Member Koppell had a question. And thank you

         24  for joining us.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.
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          2                 I'm sorry to be late, Madam Chairs.

          3                 I'm just wondering what your plans

          4  are for the Bronx?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Well,

          6  the Bronx we have right now, Van Cortlandt Park and

          7  also Pelham Bay Splitrock, Pelham Bay Park, and also

          8  Orchard Beach. Those are the areas we have right

          9  now.

         10                 We are open to other proposals. And,

         11  you know, if someone comes forward and says they

         12  have a specific park they would like to do there

         13  where there seems to be user participation in using

         14  that, we would definitely put it out for an RFP.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I have

         16  several suggestions relating to my district, which

         17  I'll make right now and we'll follow-up on it.

         18                 But Van Cortlandt Park is in my

         19  district, and it's a good choice. But I would

         20  propose there are some smaller parks that are very

         21  heavily utilized, and also I suspect would be

         22  utilized particularly for this. One is Seton Park,

         23  which is in Riverdale, and there was a community

         24  group that had actually come to me and proposed to

         25  do this privately, although I don't think they got
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          2  it off the ground, but it was a lot of interest.

          3                 And then I would suggest the Williams

          4  Bridge Oval Park, which is very heavily utilized and

          5  a very populated area, and, again, a lot of people

          6  live right around it. It's used for passive

          7  recreation, as well as active recreation.

          8                 And I don't know whether you've had

          9  any conversations with, particularly the Botanical

         10  Garden, more than the zoo, because the zoo is more

         11  for the people who go to see the animals, but the

         12  Botanical Garden is a place where people come and

         13  relax and it would be a good place to utilize the

         14  computers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: They also like to

         16  be able to pull up their laptop to see the history

         17  of the flower and Latin name and --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes. Yes.

         19                 You know, Botanical Garden, of

         20  course, is a private non-profit but has

         21  relationships with the Park Department, and it's

         22  also entirely within my district, I'm pleased to

         23  say. So, those three, particularly, I would like you

         24  to look at, Seton Park, Williams Bojoval (phonetic)

         25  and the Botanical Garden. I think all would be
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          2  excellent places, Madam Chair. And I want to

          3  compliment you for this. When the community people

          4  came to me and proposed it, it was a very

          5  interesting idea. It's a great idea to do it all

          6  over the City.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Again,

          8  I apologize for being late.

          9                 I was reading through the testimony,

         10  and then you said if there is user interest, which

         11  struck me particularly because I think there are

         12  areas that in the Bronx, different areas that aren't

         13  as affluent as the parks that we already have this

         14  hotspot or -- is that how I say it correctly, Gale?

         15  That we could look to schools, like I think of

         16  Mallaly, where you have 114 there, you have Scans

         17  Rec Center there, that that would be the perfect

         18  opportunity to start introducing people who would

         19  otherwise not have access to wirelessness and hot

         20  spots.

         21                 And what I guess I think we need to

         22  do is think outside of the traditional box if there

         23  is such thing as a traditional box with hot spot

         24  areas, that we start getting places that may not fit

         25  our mold so that we are allowing, you know, there
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          2  are certain programs with schools that are giving

          3  kids laptops and letting them become more immersed

          4  in computer world, and this is the perfect

          5  connection. And, again, I just breezed through the

          6  testimony and then spoke to Gale, so there may be

          7  places that exist that aren't as affluent, but we

          8  need to really start looking at those areas. They

          9  might not get the most use initially, but those are

         10  the places that, again, we can connect schools, rec

         11  centers and other things too.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: If

         13  I could just jump in a minute? Joanne Imohiosen.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Sure.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:

         16  We'll be glad to put out RFPs for all these sites,

         17  if we can get the information for you. Now that

         18  we've worked with DoITT and we have a document,

         19  we'll just plug it in and we'll keep issuing it, so

         20  it's not a problem. If you give us your request,

         21  we'll do it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No question is

         23  stupid, so I'll go out there. What is the process by

         24  which, and if this has been answered, the process by

         25  which a location becomes wireless? How does that

                                                            23

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  work? And then once we have the -- you're laughing.

          3  Is that a big --

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN: No,

          5  I'm laughing because you're asking it and I'm going

          6  to have to ask our technical people to answer it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Oh. And give me

          8  straight up a lay answer, because I can't be too

          9  technical. But is it something that once we figure

         10  it out it's easy to do in other areas, or each time

         11  does it require starting from scratch?

         12                 MR. NICLAN: I'm Andrew Niclan

         13  (phonetic). Essentially the process -- sorry.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Introduce

         15  yourself.

         16                 MR. NICLAN: My name is Andrew Niclan.

         17  Essentially the process is the same in most

         18  locations where you would need to install some

         19  equipment and there would need to be some testing

         20  done.

         21                 The largest sort of variances that

         22  you're going to have are trees and things like that

         23  that could be blocking signals, so there would have

         24  to be some degree of testing and some degree of

         25  differences in every single location, which does
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          2  make it a little bit of a challenge.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, I have a

          4  question about some of the fees.

          5                 I'm very familiar with the RFPs. June

          6  '03, February '06. And I'm just wondering if you

          7  could talk a little bit more about some of the terms

          8  now that they've been issued and responded to. What

          9  kind of revenue for the operators is contemplated?

         10  What kind of fees did you hope to collect? And just

         11  some other limitations. The reason I asked this is,

         12  as you know, I am a believer in, it is very hard to

         13  make revenue off of these apparatuses. In other

         14  words, you want to have a home page that talks about

         15  what's going on around Fort Greene Park or whatever,

         16  but I don't quite know, except for a few banners,

         17  how they're going to make parks money off of this.

         18  And I think that's maybe why you're getting fewer

         19  responses.

         20                 So, I just want to know if you could

         21  talk about fees that you hope to collect in the two

         22  different RFPs, because they're slightly differently

         23  written, and maybe what you might do in the future

         24  on this issue of revenue.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER IMOHIOSEN:
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          2  Well, I think when we first went out in 2003, we

          3  were talking with our marketing division, so it was

          4  really a marketing division computer revenue sort of

          5  combination, and we really were trying to make some

          6  money on this deal, quite frankly. And we thought

          7  there was potentially a business model out there,

          8  and similar to other programs like adopt-a-park or

          9  getting corporate sponsors for the Parks Department.

         10  We're always looking for partnerships with other

         11  people so we can leverage private money in a way

         12  that would improve parks and also revenue to the

         13  City, and it came pretty clear, at least in 2003

         14  when we went out that first there was, you know,

         15  Verizon did come in, did come in and they came in

         16  with a proposal, the proposal, basically they backed

         17  out of the proposal.

         18                 Ultimately Wi-Fi Salon has come in,

         19  they have come in with a proposal. It's $30,000 a

         20  year minimal. It's also ten percent of the gross

         21  receipts, whichever is higher, and they also have

         22  one percent of the gross receipts, including revenue

         23  from E-commerce Enablent (phonetic) and revenue from

         24  Voice Operated Systems, as well.

         25                 So, I mean, from that proposal there
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          2  is money.

          3                 In terms of the additional proposals

          4  that have come in --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: For 2006 you

          6  mean?

          7                 MR. NICLAN: Yes, they're

          8  substantially lower, and they're like $700 a year,

          9  something to that effect.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         11                 You think that's realistic, although

         12  it's only been I guess three parks that have

         13  actually responded?

         14                 MR. NICLAN: Yes, those are relatively

         15  small parks. The first project was the large

         16  flagship parks, and that's what we really wanted --

         17  you know, we decided we wanted to go out at first

         18  and do those projects there, and see if you get, you

         19  know, some interest in it. But subsequently with the

         20  small parks, we also have community organizations

         21  coming in and if they're coming in and they feel

         22  they can be the sponsor on the project, put in a bid

         23  with the project -- work with, you know, the local

         24  network, we're willing to work with them. And I

         25  think we're seeing more and more that this is a
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          2  service. You know, parks does, through concessions

          3  will do services, and it may not be a money-marker

          4  but it's a service provider.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right. I don't

          6  mean to tell you I told you so, but --

          7                 MR. NICLAN: Did we have that

          8  conversation?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes, we did have

         10  that conversation. Just about 2003, I think. What

         11  kind of speed requirement, if any, do these RFPs

         12  set? Sort of picking up on Council Member Addabbo,

         13  is that something that you look at as a goal or an

         14  evaluation?

         15                 MR. NICLAN: We do look at it as a

         16  goal, and we do put targets in these proposals.

         17                 These are RFPs. I don't  have it

         18  offhand, but we can always get it to you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. And how do

         20  you think we can go about trying to get some of

         21  these other parks that are smaller around the City?

         22  You know, I hope that this hearing will certainly

         23  get people interested, and are there any other ways

         24  in which you're having forums or discussions along

         25  those lines?
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          2                 MR. NICLAN: In terms of I think it's

          3  going to be a word of mouth kind of in the computer

          4  community, as it takes off in more and more parks,

          5  if there's more articles out there, as is more

          6  activity out there and public relations gets out, I

          7  think people are going to be demanding this kind of

          8  service. And as that happens, and other groups get

          9  involved with it, I think we'll be expanding out to

         10  other parks and we're really open to the idea of

         11  doing that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         13                 Council Member Koppell.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm a little

         15  confused, and maybe I didn't hear right. I was sort

         16  of looking at the materials while you've been

         17  speaking.

         18                 The RFP says what to the provider?

         19  The provider, I assume, is going to put up a station

         20  that is going to be accessible through wireless so

         21  that you can get computer access; is that correct?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: That's

         23  correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They'll put

         25  up towers or some sort of access point?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA:

          3  Basically that's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. And the

          5  user who comes --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: The

          7  towers are not going to be like big structures in

          8  parks or anything like that, I just want to assure

          9  you of that. Very careful about that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: When the user

         11  comes to the park with a computer that can connect

         12  on a wireless basis, does the user then pay

         13  something to connect?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: No.

         15  According to this technology, we're not doing it.

         16  It's going to be great. In some cities they do -- in

         17  San Francisco they're proposing that if you want a

         18  high speed connection you would have to pay for

         19  that, but in this case it's going to be free. And

         20  that's most of the models right now, and cities are

         21  grasping with this right now.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, I didn't

         23  use Verizon, because they won't accept the bid.

         24  What's the name of the group?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Wi-Fi
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          2  Salon.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So Wi-Fi

          4  Salon, what's the incentive for them to do this?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: I think

          6  one of the things in terms of the incentives are, I

          7  mean, they would be putting on maybe advertising on

          8  the portal? When you basically go into the computer

          9  and you access the Wi-Fi, the first thing you're

         10  going to see, the first screen you're going to see

         11  is going to have some kind of a screen there, and

         12  there will be some things coming up, which will be

         13  some kind of, you know, it can be advertised, it

         14  could be name recognition. And also, I mean it's

         15  sort of like there's going to be other things in

         16  terms of connections with the park, with the park

         17  history, it could be restaurants in the

         18  neighborhood, it could be all those kind of things

         19  that, you know, one potentially could put out. So

         20  there is going to be some commercial activity.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And does the

         22  RFP ask Wi-Fi -- is that the name of the company?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Wi-Fi

         24  is just --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, but what
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          2  is the name of the company? Salon? Wi-Fi Salon?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Yes,

          4  Wi-Fi Salon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Wi-Fi Salon,

          6  I'm sorry. So, Wi-Fi Salon, are they being asked in

          7  the RFP to pay something to the City in order to

          8  install this?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Yes.

         10  Wi-Fi Salon, it's $30,000 minimum on an annual

         11  basis, or ten percent of the gross, whichever is

         12  higher.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Ten percent

         14  of the gross for advertising?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA:

         16  Whatever gross revenues that they would make, ten

         17  percent of that gross.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, 30,000 a

         19  park or per --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: No,

         21  30,000 total.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The whole

         23  City?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Only

         25  for the parks that were in the RFP. This is not for
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          2  all City parks.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So you

          4  invited us to make suggestions.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: That's

          6  correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And then

          8  what, you'd make up a new RFP, is that it?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: That's

         10  correct. We would.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: And we

         13  would group the RFP. We would put the parks in

         14  there. But what we would do, you know, you could

         15  individually bid on that one specific park so you

         16  can do as many as you want or as few as you want.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm beginning

         18  to understand it now.

         19                 I have no problem with -- I mean,

         20  that's the way the Internet works, the providers.

         21  Well, I pay a fee, but I also -- obviously, many of

         22  the services are provided are paid for by ads that

         23  are associated with that service. Some of the

         24  services charge, others don't.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Right.

                                                            33

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, this is a

          3  good way of doing it, because it doesn't cost the

          4  user anything. I guess in some other places they

          5  charge users an access fee. No?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Not in

          7  Parks.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Chairs, I

          9  think this is a good system, and I will certainly

         10  ask for you to include my parks in your RFP.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know New York

         12  City is like no other City, however, what cities

         13  currently have this technology in their parks? And

         14  have we looked to see if, you know, if there's

         15  anything we can copy for, I don't know, anything?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Well, a

         17  couple of the cities that are working on it,

         18  Philadelphia is working on it for right now. They're

         19  trying to do basically a project for the whole City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: And the

         22  City is paying for it.

         23                 In this case we're really talking

         24  about the City, you know, this is basically cost

         25  neutral, I mean we're basically doing this and the

                                                            34

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  companies are putting this in. Now, Philadelphia,

          3  they're talking about possibly, you know, probably

          4  paying for that.

          5                 Other cities that are involved in it

          6  pretty heavily are San Francisco, Seattle and

          7  Portland. And they're in the middle of, you know,

          8  going through the process. You know, I think they

          9  have parts of it out there but I don't know of

         10  anything where it's totally out there.

         11                 I also know recently Suffolk County

         12  had mentioned they were going to try and they are in

         13  the beginning stages of this also, but they're going

         14  to try to basically do wireless for the whole

         15  county, which is huge.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thanks.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I don't want to

         18  say I told you so, but that's the broadband issue

         19  which we just would love to work with DoITT on and

         20  we are having task force meetings around the City on

         21  the universal ubiquitous broadband, which is what

         22  all those cities are doing.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair. Just another proposal. I think of the

          3  traditional park, but if you think about our

          4  beaches, which are Parks properties, here is miles

          5  and miles of stretches of parks lands, millions of

          6  people visit them, can't we think about possibly

          7  using either our beaches and our parks pools to be

          8  wireless as well? Can that be in the RFP?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: I think

         10  the beaches would be very interesting to look at.

         11                 I'm not sure about our pools, only

         12  because generally we don't like to bring anything

         13  out on the pool decks.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Fair enough.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: But I

         16  think the beaches might be very interesting, and you

         17  might want to throw a beach in there and see what

         18  happens.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I appreciate

         20  that. Being a representative of Rockaway, I

         21  appreciate that.

         22                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: But it's

         24  currently up at Orchard Beach, yes?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: No,
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          2  it's not up at Orchard Beach yet.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That's a

          4  proposed?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Orchard

          6  Beach is proposed for the end of the summer, early

          7  fall of 2006.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Okay.

         10  All right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I want to thank

         12  you in a minute, but one of my questions to conclude

         13  is, the parks that do exist I think have been

         14  partially done by NYC wireless, and my question is,

         15  have you looked at how Washington Square, Tompkins,

         16  Bryant, et cetera, what their structure is, if there

         17  is any revenue? How are those any kind of model for

         18  what you're doing?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: I know

         20  in Bryant Park, and I'm not sure what the amount of

         21  money that they're getting for that is, but I know

         22  Bryant Park is up and operating, and that was

         23  installed.

         24                 The other two, you know, unless --

         25  I'm not really sure in terms of how that was
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          2  installed, in terms of whether it was just off of

          3  buildings. Because the other thing you can do, you

          4  can install things off of buildings, and, you know,

          5  the park becomes a hot spot.

          6                 I think in terms of Union Square

          7  Park, that very well could be a hot spot in terms of

          8  antennas off of buildings and it becomes a hot spot

          9  park.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I think that's

         11  what Borough of Manhattan Community College is

         12  doing. So, have you looked at that as a model also?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: I think

         14  that's something we're going to be looking at

         15  closely. And seeing where, you know where places are

         16  where we can't necessarily get, you know, somebody

         17  coming in and basically putting it in for us, in one

         18  of these RFPs, might be another alternative to

         19  approach it so we can get more comprehensive

         20  exposure and coverage throughout the City.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Anyway, any

         22  other questions?

         23                 I want to thank you very much, all of

         24  Parks. I know this is a learning experience for all

         25  of us. It's a new era, a new kind of technology, and
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          2  of course, I'm supportive and look forward to

          3  working with you. I hope what this hearing does is

          4  to come up with some new ideas. I know you said that

          5  you look for new ideas in trying to make our parks

          6  wireless, and I do think that it would help in,

          7  particularly in communities where small business

          8  people or students and others may not have access

          9  internally to their homes or businesses or they're

         10  between jobs, every opportunity I think to be able

         11  to level the playing field in terms of research and

         12  information is what I'm all about.

         13                 So, thank you very much, and we look

         14  forward to working with you.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Thank

         17  you for letting us appear.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right. Our

         19  next panel is Marshall Brown, from Wi-Fi Salon;

         20  Andrew Flamm, Vice President of Downtown Alliance;

         21  Dana Spiegel, Executive Director of NYC Wireless;

         22  and Tom Pane, Friends of Dag Hammarskjold Plaza.

         23                 After you participate, if you haven't

         24  filled out a form, please do so with the

         25  Sergeant-At-Arms.
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          2                 Marshall, do you want to start?

          3  Introduce yourself.

          4                 MR. BROWN: Thank you. Marshall Brown,

          5  Wi-Fi Salon. Thank you for giving me the opportunity

          6  to speak today before the Committee about Wi-Fi in

          7  the parks. It's a very exciting time for Wi-Fi.

          8  Starting out we all saw the same end point. High

          9  speed wireless umbrellas, covering all our major

         10  cities. The question was always how will we get to

         11  that end point? What business models, what uses

         12  would drive Wi-Fi's adoption? Would there be enough

         13  Wi-Fi devices out there to support a business model?

         14                 When would the public know enough

         15  about Wi-Fi to know that it mattered.

         16                 I think now it is safe to say that

         17  finally in 2006 Wi-Fi is arriving. It is arriving

         18  because people are now looking at it as a way, not

         19  just to surf and check your e-mail, but also as a

         20  kind of urban renewal, as a way to know your town or

         21  the park you're standing in, as a means to which we

         22  can change how we work, play and contain ourselves

         23  and communicate with each other in our environment.

         24                 On October 1st, 2004, Wi-Fi Salon was

         25  awarded a concession to build and maintain Wi-Fi
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          2  hotspots in 16 locations and ten parks in four

          3  boroughs. No, two locations were added, subsequently

          4  making 18. The Department of Parks and Recreation

          5  selected us because we offered them a vision of what

          6  Wi-Fi would become and what that would mean for New

          7  York's parks. We argued that Wi-Fi 1.0, basic

          8  connectivity that allowed you to surf the net and

          9  check e-mail, could never lead to a viable business

         10  model for Wi-Fi in the parks. The parks would have

         11  to await the arrival of what we called Wi-Fi 2.0. In

         12  the executive summary of our proposal from August

         13  2003, we defined this feature. Wi-Fi 2.0 situates

         14  you at the center of community, where local

         15  businesses, non-profits and local government are all

         16  represented. The content is multi-media, with

         17  streamed video and music archived and live. It is

         18  interactive, enabling IP Telephony, gaming,

         19  personalization and even Web video conferencing. It

         20  can be delivered to all web-enabling devices, phone,

         21  PDAs, flat panel displays, kiosks, laptops and

         22  desktops. It is also location specific, where each

         23  Hot Spot defines a unique social space through the

         24  content it offers. Our aim is to turn Hot Spots into

         25  destinations for tourists and other park visitors
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          2  into portals for art and culture. The future of

          3  Wi-Fi lies in its customization for

          4  location-specific purposes, and as an interactive

          5  broadband experience.

          6                 The challenge and the opportunity

          7  will be how we go about creating Hot Spot-specific

          8  applications and services. It takes a great deal of

          9  planning and experimentation to establish one-by-one

         10  these virtual communities to discover what will work

         11  and what won't from a design content and business

         12  standpoint.

         13                 We concluded the executive summary

         14  with this: While Wi-Fi 2.0 will eventually lead to

         15  Wi-Fi deployments that are at least

         16  self-sustainable, if not profitable, it will take

         17  significant time and investment to build the

         18  services and applications to bring it into being.

         19                 At this time, it is impossible to say

         20  what the revenues or revenue streams it will

         21  eventually be. For now we have only the expectation

         22  of creating something dramatically new and hope that

         23  parks and recreation will join us in this effort.

         24                 In August 2003, there were only 7

         25  million Wi-Fi enabled devices in the US and those
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          2  who were laptops sitting on someone's desk.

          3                 Then, as now, there was no clear

          4  business model for parks Wi-Fi. But then analysts

          5  were predicting that there would be 100 WiFi enabled

          6  devices in people's hands by 2007. From that we

          7  inferred that business models would emerge, that at

          8  some point there would be enough content, devices,

          9  and traffic to inspire a media company, a technology

         10  company, or a civic minded New York-based company to

         11  sponsor the WiFi in our parks, if only because they

         12  would have a clear interest in its adoption.

         13                 We spent much of 2005 meeting with

         14  media and technology companies and appealing to

         15  local corporate sponsors, and with potential

         16  investors as well. The interest in our proposition

         17  grew within each passing money.

         18                 At the end of July, Microsoft offered

         19  to sponsor a park in Seattle for 100,000, and so set

         20  the market.

         21                 Now, in the spring of 2006,

         22  everything is in place for WiFi 2.0 to finally

         23  emerge. WiFi chips are everywhere, in cameras,

         24  tablets, PDAs, handsets, game consoles, and of

         25  course laptops. Mobile media is where everyone wants
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          2  to be, from AMD and Intel to the device

          3  manufacturers to the record labels, TV networks and

          4  movie studios. Entire towns and cities are building

          5  WiFi networks, even the State of Rhode Island wants

          6  it. Most importantly, here and today, New York wants

          7  it.

          8                 When we met with Parks in June 2004,

          9  we asked them to take a leap of faith and they did.

         10  Together we told them we could build the future of

         11  WiFi. Now they and the people of New York are about

         12  to be rewarded for it.

         13                 We will offer the following:

         14                 A local wireless portal for each of

         15  the 18 locations with multimedia content that will

         16  highlight the parks and the surrounding

         17  neighborhood.

         18                 The infrastructure to support

         19  multimedia applications, services and experiences

         20  for many users simultaneously.

         21                 And third, a platform upon which

         22  leading edge WiFi applications, devices and

         23  experiences can be showcased.

         24                 WiFi Salon is dedicated to enhancing

         25  the park experiences of the 39 million people who
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          2  visit them each year. Our WiFi Hot Spots will be

          3  destinations where people can experience the best

          4  New York has to offer in mobile media, and where the

          5  content will be specific to that destination.

          6                 The Delacorte Theatre, Summerstage,

          7  Orchard Beach, Prospect Park, the USTA Tennis

          8  Center, etc, will all be very different experiences.

          9  Further, through Portalize, our community portal

         10  software, people will be able to create and manage

         11  the content for each location.

         12                 I encourage any interested parties to

         13  leave their business cards with me, or e-mail us at

         14  info@wifisalon.com so that over the coming weeks as

         15  new spots go live and additional announcements are

         16  made, we can send you that information. This is the

         17  City's WiFi and we want each of your input and

         18  involvement to make sure this is the best network

         19  possible.

         20                 In the end, we will build a world

         21  class WiFi network for New York's parks.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. Dana.

         23                 MR. SPIEGEL: Thank you. Good

         24  afternoon. My name is Dana Spiegel, and I am pleased

         25  to be here today to testify on behalf of NYC
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          2  Wireless, a non-profit organization that advocates

          3  and enables the growth of three public hot spots

          4  throughout New York City, for which I serve as

          5  Executive Director.

          6                 We are an all volunteer organization

          7  with seven Board members, approximately 60 very

          8  active members, and hundreds of members around the

          9  area and country.

         10                 Over the past five years, NYC

         11  Wireless has been active in the deployment of free

         12  public wireless networks in over a dozen New York

         13  City parks and public spaces through partnerships

         14  with local parks organizations and Business

         15  Improvement District companies.

         16                 I should note that our first park was

         17  deployed in the early 2001, and that was Tompkins

         18  Square Park. We have worked with NYCHA licensed

         19  low-income housing developers to light up three

         20  low-income housing developments in Manhattan,

         21  Brooklyn and the Bronx. We have created community

         22  engagement programs that take advantage of

         23  parks-based and other wireless networks in

         24  Manhattan, such as our annual wireless arts

         25  festival, Spectropolis, which took place right
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          2  outside these doors in City Hall Park.

          3                 I, and other Board members, regularly

          4  speak at industry conferences and at the New York

          5  area universities and colleges to educate and engage

          6  students in the creation and use of public wireless

          7  networks, and the benefits they bring to New York

          8  City.

          9                 The organization sits on the FCC

         10  consumer advisory committee with a number of other

         11  national community organizations and we are engaged

         12  in both nationally and internationally with other

         13  Community Wireless groups.

         14                 I am here to speak briefly about two

         15  topics that I believe are very relevant. One, New

         16  York City's NYC Wireless's hot spots and how we've

         17  worked directly to bring free public WiFi to those

         18  New York City parks that offer that amenity, and

         19  also how the New York City Parks Department can help

         20  bring this amenity to all parks.

         21                 And these comments are intended to

         22  showcase examples and raise concerns with the way

         23  parks-based hot spots are currently handled.

         24                 Free public Internet access in parks

         25  begins with NYC Wireless seeking local interest and
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          2  support. We work with local organizations, such as

          3  BIDs, like the Alliance for Downtown New York, and

          4  Friends of Groups that approach our organizations

          5  seeking help.

          6                 Once locations are identified, we

          7  assist with the design of wireless equipment

          8  installation plans and seeking funding to help

          9  support their build-out.

         10                 I should note that NYC Wireless,

         11  which does not fund any of the parks that we employ,

         12  we are sponsored or funded by local partner

         13  organizations.

         14                 NYC Wireless provides design,

         15  installation and support for the networks that we

         16  build through our infrastructure, volunteer help and

         17  extensive know-how that we have developed over the

         18  past five years.

         19                 The equipment that we use is open

         20  source and standards based, to ensure maximum

         21  compatibility with end-user equipment, including

         22  laptops, PDAs, and more recently wireless voiceover

         23  IP telephones. As a result, we ensure that both

         24  industry standard and novel uses of our networks are

         25  unrestricted, allowing residents, students and
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          2  artists to invent new technologies and uses for

          3  public wireless networks.

          4                 Spectropolis, our annual wireless

          5  arts festival produced with the Downtown Alliance

          6  and Lower Manhattan Cultural Council, brought

          7  thousands of residents and visitors to Downtown New

          8  York to experience new forms of art and better

          9  understand how free public Hot Spots can be used. It

         10  serves as a spectacular example of the novel use

         11  that Hot Spots can bring to parks-based WiFi.

         12                 Our Hot Spots have generally been

         13  deployed outside of park grounds and public

         14  facilities, or in the case of Bryant Park, using

         15  facilities provided by the licensed private park

         16  operator.

         17                 We generally mount or equipment on

         18  top or on local buildings with the support of our

         19  partner organizations, beaming the wireless signal

         20  into the park.

         21                 This deployment strategy is sometimes

         22  ideal since equipment can be installed quickly, and

         23  there are sometimes no facilities within the parks

         24  to support the mounting of equipment.

         25                 Though we have attempted to involve
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          2  the Parks Department in these deployments, we have

          3  unfortunately been unsuccessful in doing so.

          4                 We can --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Deaf ears is what

          6  you used here. Thank you.

          7                 MR. SPIEGEL: We can often deploy a

          8  Hot Spot for only a few thousand dollars and in

          9  under two months to service most or all of a park.

         10  Much of the time is spent designing the network,

         11  ordering equipment and DSL Internet service, and

         12  gathering necessary agreements. Actual equipment

         13  installation can take as little as one to two days.

         14                 Our two most recent projects

         15  highlight our expertise and affordability. Two weeks

         16  ago, working with Solar One, the City's first

         17  solar-powered Green Energy Arts and Education

         18  Center, we lit up Stuyvesant Cove Park at 23rd

         19  Street and the FDR. This Hot Spot, which we believe

         20  is the northeast first solar-powered public hotspot

         21  provides free WiFi to visitors and local residents

         22  from Solar One's learning center.

         23                 The Hot Spot was deployed with the

         24  help of a class of students from Monroe College, who

         25  learned how to deploy a Hot Spot through our
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          2  education initiative. The Hot Spot is powered by a

          3  small four-inch square antenna attached to Solar

          4  One's building, and is barely visible from the park

          5  grounds.

          6                 Solar One sponsored this hot spot in

          7  order to bring more people to their park, and

          8  provide information about the organization through

          9  its portal page. They intend to integrate it

         10  immediately into the events that they hold in that

         11  area.

         12                 Within the next few weeks, NYC

         13  wireless will be deploying Brooklyn's first public

         14  Hot Spot in DUMBO. Working with the DUMBO BID, which

         15  is a new organization, and Two Trees Management,

         16  which sponsors the BID, free Internet will be

         17  available in Brooklyn Bridge Park.

         18                 In addition to providing this

         19  amenity, the DUMBO BID expects to integrate the Hot

         20  Spot into all events that take place in the park.

         21  More than other parks-based Hot Spots, the Brooklyn

         22  Bridge Park Hot Spot is an essential amenity for the

         23  numerous parents who are moving to that area so they

         24  can bring their kids to the park and watch them

         25  while still being able to work remotely.
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          2                 In addition to these two parks, NYC

          3  Wireless has been working closely with the Friends

          4  of Dag Hammarskjold Plaza to build WiFi into that

          5  park. The Friends of organization felt that having

          6  Parks Department involvement was critical and

          7  submitted a response to that recent RFP.

          8                 I should add also that the

          9  involvement of the Friends Of Dag Hammarskjold Plaza

         10  was ongoing and then they decided as we were about

         11  to deploy that they wanted to involve the Parks

         12  Department, and so in fact the involvement of the

         13  RFP unfortunately added a few months to the process

         14  as a whole, that I hope will add significantly to

         15  the success of the park.

         16                 The Friends Of organization felt that

         17  having the Parks Department involved was critical,

         18  and so they submitted the response. We were informed

         19  in the last week that our network was awarded the

         20  contract to install the Hot Spots in the Plaza. The

         21  proposal fee was sponsored by Friends Of

         22  organization, and I believe, and I need to check

         23  specifically, that included a $1 franchise fee to be

         24  paid yearly to the Parks Department.

         25                 As previously mentioned NYC Wireless
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          2  has occasionally attempted to involve the Parks

          3  Department in our efforts, and unfortunately we have

          4  been unsuccessful in attracting their attention,

          5  even though most of the New York City parks that

          6  provide free WiFi are NYC Wireless projects.

          7                 We have found that it is far more

          8  effective thus far to deploy our networks within

          9  privately-operated parks like Bryant Park and

         10  Stuyvesant Cove Park or work entirely outside the

         11  aegis of the Parks Department, beaming the wireless

         12  signal into the park from the outside.

         13                 This of course only works when there

         14  is a park of small enough size that an outside

         15  building could be used, certain parts like Central

         16  Park where some areas are not actually compatible

         17  with this type of a deployment strategy.

         18                 When the Parks Department released

         19  its first RFP over two years ago, NYC Wireless

         20  considered bidding on the project. Unfortunately

         21  after reviewing the requirements, we determined that

         22  as a non-profit organization we would be unable to

         23  meet the RFP's onerous requirements and costs.

         24                 We understand that there were only a

         25  few proposals submitted, as was represented earlier
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          2  today, and that in the time since the contract

          3  awarded, unfortunately only a small section of one

          4  park has been lit up. Though, I do understand that

          5  Marshall is working diligently to get more parks on

          6  line. However, we do highlight that it has been over

          7  two years since the contract was awarded, and that

          8  there has only been one part of one park that's been

          9  lit up.

         10                 Since that time, NYC Wireless has

         11  deployed a number of parks and public spaces, helped

         12  to educate residents and students across New York

         13  City about how to safely use public Hot Spots, and

         14  brought free WiFi to three public housing

         15  buildings.

         16                 Though we were involved in the single

         17  park response to the current RFP, we determined that

         18  the terms of the current RFP, nor the Parks

         19  Department's attitude towards providing the amenity

         20  were not changed sufficiently to enable NYC Wireless

         21  to independently provide a suitable proposal.

         22                 We believe that a comprehensive

         23  change in perspective is needed in the Parks

         24  Department, if New York City is to see a significant

         25  growth in City supported public hot spots, and I'm
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          2  happy to talk a bit more about this as questions are

          3  voiced by the Committee.

          4                 We would ask, however, the Parks

          5  Department directly if the original RFP has clearly

          6  failed to produce the expected flowering of free

          7  public Hot Spots, why was the second RFP not

          8  significantly changed? And why were proven

          9  stakeholders like NYC Wireless not consulted to

         10  ensure that the RFP be envisioned and structured

         11  properly to garner more and better responses, and

         12  that any proposal have a greater chance for

         13  successful deployment?

         14                 We believe that a free Internet is an

         15  amenity and should be provided to all New Yorkers,

         16  just as grass, trees and benches are.

         17                 The cost of such a widespread

         18  deployment would be easily offset by the cost

         19  savings and efficiencies afforded by a high speed

         20  wireless network available in parks.

         21                 This wireless network could be used

         22  by the Parks Department to run sensors, provide the

         23  means to automate its workforce, speed up the

         24  operations of Parks Department while on location,

         25  and provide necessary infrastructure to support
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          2  additional means of commerce by private franchisees.

          3                 Such a network would also provide a

          4  means to inform the public about all news relating

          5  to parks events and all news relating to the parks

          6  and parks events, and would return parks to their

          7  rightful place as central gathering places for local

          8  neighborhood.

          9                 A parks-based free Wi-Fi network

         10  would require proper investment and support by the

         11  City and should empower local stakeholders as NYC

         12  wireless has done in our projects.

         13                 The failure of the Parks Department

         14  to address any of these issues is unfortunately

         15  saddening. The people that suffer the most are the

         16  residents and visitors of this great City.

         17                 We hope that the New York City

         18  Council's involvement will help change the direction

         19  of the Parks Department's Initiatives, and NYC

         20  Wireless will continue to work to bring free public

         21  Internet to all New Yorkers.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         23  much, Dana.

         24                 Andrew.

         25                 MR. FLAMM: Hi. I'm Andrew Flamm, from
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          2  the Downtown Alliance, the Business Improvement

          3  District here in Lower Manhattan.

          4                 The Downtown Alliance operates eight

          5  Hot Spots here in Lower Manhattan. Three of them are

          6  in public parks, City Hall Park, just outside here,

          7  Bowling Green Park, as well as the newly-created

          8  Wall Street Park, which is down at the eastern end

          9  of Wall Street, between Water and South Streets.

         10                 We also have five other non-parks

         11  that are operating as Hot Spots, those are the South

         12  Street Seaport, the Winter Garden, the Atrium at 60

         13  Wall Street, Stone Street and Vietnam Vets Plaza

         14  over on Water Street.

         15                 The Downtown Alliance provides this

         16  free service for a number of reasons. First,

         17  Internet Access is a useful amenity for district

         18  workers, residents, and visitors, improving the

         19  perceptions of the district. Additionally providing

         20  free WiFi service contributes to our effort to

         21  promote Lower Manhattan as the most

         22  technologically-advanced central business districts

         23  in the country.

         24                 Third, providing the service from

         25  targeted locations encourages the use of Lower
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          2  Manhattan's array of impressive parks in public

          3  spaces, and on this objective we're worked a bit

          4  with the Parks Department over the last couple of

          5  years.

          6                 We've noted that the usage of the

          7  free WiFi Hot Spots has increased as the technology

          8  has become more widely used and less expensive,

          9  which is understandable.

         10                 And using in fact increased by 35

         11  percent year-to-year over the last year which we

         12  were encouraged by.

         13                 This increased usage helps us justify

         14  continuing to fund the cost of these services. We

         15  intend to pay for this service in the coming years

         16  using the same model, essentially providing the

         17  service to people for free, to encourage being able

         18  to achieve these goals that we just spoke about, as

         19  absent a deep-pocketed sponsor we don't believe that

         20  public WiFi can be a revenue-generating model, as

         21  was touched on earlier today I believe.

         22                 Further, making public WiFi a

         23  fee-for-service model to the public discourages

         24  usage, curtailing our efforts to meet the

         25  above-referenced objectives.
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          2                 So, our perception is make it free,

          3  make it accessible, and encourage people to take

          4  advantage and use it downtown.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. I have

          7  questions. But maybe, Council Member Addabbo, do you

          8  have questions?

          9                 One of the questions I have, I guess

         10  what scares me a little bit, by your wonderful

         11  testimony, is what you said is that I'm very

         12  concerned and I think everyone here is to make sure

         13  that all the parks get equal access. And certainly

         14  WiFi Salon, by responding to an RFP with one large

         15  park in each borough, that's, you know, level

         16  playing field. But I am worried, because I know NYC

         17  Wireless, you have, understandably, working where

         18  you have a partnership, and that often ends up being

         19  Manhattan, and ends up being, you know, parks where

         20  there is a partnership that's possible.

         21                 So, my question to you is, when you

         22  offered us the opportunity to get more information,

         23  how do you think the Parks Department should

         24  structure their RFPs so that we can get responses

         25  and get smaller parks that may not have a BID, or
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          2  don't have a Friends Of to be able to participate?

          3  Because otherwise I fear we could end up more with

          4  this digital park divide, so-to-speak. How would you

          5  structure something like that? And thank you for

          6  your testimony?

          7                 MR. SPIEGEL: That's actually a

          8  terrific question, Council Member Brewer. The truth

          9  of the matter is that NYC Wireless is contacted on a

         10  very regular basis by any number of different

         11  organizations across New York City, the Bronx,

         12  Staten Island, Brooklyn, Queens. The largest

         13  limiting factor of these organizations to assist in

         14  the deployment of these parks is not initiative, is

         15  not interest. In fact, we have been contacted on a

         16  number of times from organizations in the South

         17  Bronx, which we think is a wonderful location to

         18  bring public WiFi.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Dara Carter

         20  (phonetic) could do it with you. Go ahead.

         21                 MR. SPIEGEL: The biggest limitation,

         22  unfortunately, is that these organizations that

         23  express interest have no funding to actually do

         24  this.

         25                 So, one way of rethinking the
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          2  deployment scenario for the Parks Department would

          3  be to actually allocate the budget to sponsor the

          4  Parks deployment. And also involving some private

          5  and/or non-profit organization that actually has the

          6  know-how, but ensuring that the smaller parts, and

          7  especially those community areas that have great

          8  interest in bringing this amenity to their area,

          9  ensuring that there is sufficient funding for this

         10  type of a build-out. In fact, we've had a number of

         11  instances where we've unfortunately had to turn down

         12  projects specifically because there was no funding

         13  available. And I might add also that advertising is

         14  not -- we don't believe advertising is a viable

         15  model for the parks, for parks-based deployment,

         16  especially not when you're dealing with one off

         17  parks.

         18                 One of the items that Council Member

         19  Koppell had mentioned is that if advertising works

         20  on the Internet, why doesn't it work in WiFi Hot

         21  Spots, and the truth of the matter is that the

         22  visibility of advertising is tiny compared to adds

         23  that run on our website.

         24                 If you consider how many people you

         25  can add on the front page of the New York Times
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          2  website, that's in the hundreds of thousands, if not

          3  millions, of viewers a day. At any parks

          4  installation, especially in smaller parks

          5  installation, we're talking about maybe dozens,

          6  maybe hundreds a day. And Andrew can perhaps

          7  enlighten us a little bit about the usage of the

          8  Downtown Alliance parks, but I don't believe that

          9  even in the most popular parks it exceeds more than

         10  1,000 or two people per day on a nice summer day.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And do you want

         12  to comment on the ad issue; whether you think that

         13  works or not?

         14                 MR. FLAMM: We have not used the

         15  advertising model to date --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Talk into the

         17  mike, Andrew.

         18                 MR. FLAMM: Sorry. We haven't used the

         19  advertising model today. We have used the provision

         20  of the service, just as a way to further encourage

         21  people to visit places downtown or to, as I said,

         22  use the public spaces that exist downtown. But what

         23  Dana indicated regarding the advertising model, we

         24  don't have a great deal of experience with it, so I

         25  can't address it, but my sense is, in terms of
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          2  usage, it's correct, you don't really have the same

          3  number of visits to really to be able to accommodate

          4  and encourage the type of huge revenues that perhaps

          5  some folks are looking for.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: How would you

          7  answer Council Member Addabbo's issue on the

          8  beaches?

          9                 MR. FLAMM: In terms of getting their

         10  deployment? I think that it's a wonderful idea, but

         11  you'll have to be careful about getting sand in your

         12  laptop.

         13                 One thing that I wanted to address

         14  that relates directly to this, and especially to

         15  Council Member Foster's comment on school usage as

         16  well, is that one of the limitations of the current

         17  thinking of WiFi Hot Spots is this notion that this

         18  laptop is the device of choice.

         19                 And it is true today that the vast

         20  majority of WiFi Hot Spots are used by laptops, but

         21  increasingly we're seeing usage by wireless phones.

         22  Many new phones that are being offered by the cell

         23  carriers today, some of them do have WiFi built into

         24  them, and so people can talk over that network as

         25  well. And also PDA's and other devices. I was
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          2  actually sitting on a Thesis Review Board for a

          3  project that was being run out of Parsons for a

          4  student that envisioned creating a small, mostly

          5  screen-based device, kind of like a PDA, but

          6  smaller, that would assist in visitors to New York

          7  City traveling around the City to better understand

          8  how to use transportation and get to sites of

          9  interest.

         10                 And this would be something that

         11  would be purchased, rented on a daily or weekly

         12  basis by visitors and its use would specifically be

         13  enabled by the widespread availability of WiFi so

         14  that it could get data live off of the Internet.

         15                 So, these are the types of things

         16  that we really need to think about, and especially

         17  if you're talking about Hot Spots at beaches, there

         18  will be people that want to use laptops at beaches,

         19  but I think that the more interesting things are the

         20  people at beaches that are going to want to use

         21  other devices. And also the concessionaires at the

         22  beaches, who while rolling their cart along the

         23  boardwalk, for example, would be able to run

         24  electronic commerce because of the availability of a

         25  WiFi Network in the area.
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          2                 Right now they have no facility to be

          3  able to do that, and this would open up tremendous

          4  doors as a service within the park.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you so

          6  much, Andrew.

          7                 Do you want to comment, Marshall,

          8  regarding, you know, how you think the RFP could

          9  have been better? Or do you want to comment just in

         10  terms of where you think wireless in the parks

         11  system will go in the next few years?

         12                 MR. BROWN: Let's start with the last

         13  one first. I think we are indeed heading towards

         14  that scenario where the major cities will be covered

         15  with wireless umbrellas, including the parks. I

         16  think that in just looking out there at the device

         17  manufacturers, the gear manufacturers and what's

         18  happening in mobile content, I think it will happen

         19  very quickly. I think over the next two, three years

         20  there will be, you know, all the major parks will be

         21  covered and we'll be well on our way to having a

         22  WiFi umbrella here in New York.

         23                 But one thing to keep in mind is

         24  there's WiFi and then there's WiFi. In other words,

         25  there's what Philadelphia is planning which would
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          2  give you what, a megabit per second back haul

          3  (phonetic) which wouldn't support video, given the

          4  fact that it's a mesh network wouldn't support

          5  voice. What we're planning to deploy would be able

          6  to support both, and I think New York, as the media

          7  capital of the world, is really poised to become the

          8  wireless digital media capital of the world.

          9                 So, that's, you know, New Yorkers may

         10  feel that they're far behind the curve here, both

         11  nationally and even globally New York does have a

         12  destiny when it comes to wireless media, and in the

         13  next couple of years we're going to see some

         14  exciting things happen here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Dana, one other

         16  question would be, what you're saying in terms of a

         17  limiting factor, which is what I'm calling it for

         18  Parks, and the communities of color and places that

         19  are not the most desirable cherry picked, you know,

         20  aspects of Manhattan, is that we really need to

         21  think about advocating some funding in order to

         22  spurt deployment; is that sort of what you're

         23  saying?

         24                 MR. SPIEGEL: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Because right now
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          2  the Parks thinks it's revenue, and I think you heard

          3  me sort of tongue and cheek stating I said four

          4  years ago it wasn't going to happen like that.

          5                 MR. SPIEGEL: Yes. I think, Council

          6  Member Brewer, our mutual views on this are well in

          7  alignment, and I think that some form of funding is

          8  very important, but you should also not forget local

          9  organizations that are stakeholders in the

         10  communities, and those are the people that are going

         11  to be most successful in assuring the success of any

         12  installed Hot Spot. And I would suggest that as a

         13  model we not look to Philadelphia or San Francisco

         14  or Portland or Annaheim or any of those other cities

         15  for how parks-based WiFi would work, but rather look

         16  to all of the myriad locations around the country,

         17  in fact around the world, where WiFi is offered as

         18  hot spots in specific locations and, in fact, we'd

         19  be happy to provide you with contact information for

         20  quite a number of different community-based

         21  organizations around the country, and a number in

         22  Canada, where in Canada, for example, Montreal, they

         23  have an organization very similar to us that's

         24  deployed over 140 area hot spots, and they're all

         25  supported by local businesses. They're all supported
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          2  by local organizations, they're all maintained by

          3  local students, and it really is quite incredibly

          4  heartening that there is this type of support that

          5  essentially acts as a groundswell, and ignoring

          6  local interests is the best way to ensure that these

          7  things will not be successful.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm sitting here

          9  and a little of everyone's testimony sounds like

         10  piglatin to me. Just, you know, I am more advanced

         11  than my parents, but clearly not to Gale.

         12                 How do you plan, or how do you think

         13  you can target gun-shy people like me? There are a

         14  lot of things I just don't get. And of course being

         15  able to access maybe necessarily, you know, I would

         16  hope I would never have to have my laptop at the

         17  beach, because that seems a little against why

         18  you're at the beach, unless you just need to check

         19  your e-mails. I don't know. How do you get to

         20  someone like me that it's not as scary to venture

         21  into this new world?

         22                 MR. BROWN: It's an excellent

         23  question. You have to make it simple. The interface

         24  has to be very simple to use and navigate. And you

         25  also need to educate people. What NYC Wireless is
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          2  doing, for instance is very commendable. They're

          3  going out and they're showing people how, you know,

          4  how simple it can be just to navigate around. I

          5  started in technology selling laptops at a retail

          6  store up in Boston, there would be these 75-year-old

          7  ladies who would come in, this is back in 1991, they

          8  want a laptop and they'd be so afraid of what

          9  happened, if they were to turn it on even, and

         10  they'd come in like three weeks later with a friend

         11  to purchase another laptop. I think it's just a

         12  matter of taking the plunge.

         13                 Finally, I think it's important that

         14  you have to offer people a reason to have a device

         15  in the park in the first place beyond just checking

         16  your e-mail and surfing it. It needs to be really

         17  tied to the location in some way. If you want to

         18  learn more about the park there should be some

         19  device that you could have with you to walk you

         20  through that.

         21                 Now, one way to go about that, if

         22  you're not going to be owning your advice is to rent

         23  them let's say with something preloaded so that, you

         24  know, to make the interface let's say as easy as an

         25  ATM to work with, and you have a WiFi-enabling
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          2  device in the park, and it makes that experience

          3  that much better.

          4                 MR. SPIEGEL: If I can jump in, I

          5  think there are really two aspects to this, and this

          6  really mirrors what Marshall was saying. I'll give

          7  as an example a project that we ran a couple of

          8  years ago which was a video conference on the street

          9  corner between New York City and a, I believe it

         10  was, it wasn't Prague, but it was a City like that

         11  in Eastern Europe. I can give you the exact

         12  information afterwards. We ran a video conference

         13  between these two spaces, and there was a big arts

         14  festival in this Eastern European City, and there

         15  was videoconference meaning people could see each

         16  other face-to-face and talk back and forth. And if

         17  you've never experienced a videoconference, it's

         18  about as understandable as talking to someone

         19  face-to-face. You know, compare that to talking to

         20  someone on your phone, where your calls are being

         21  dropped, and it's difficult to understand what

         22  someone means without being able to understand their

         23  inflection.

         24                 I offer this as an example because we

         25  had a number of people that came by, including two
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          2  of note, in New York City, one of which was a street

          3  performer who knew nothing of technology, but he was

          4  a street performer, and he started performing at

          5  regular schedules, actually booking times to perform

          6  for the folks in Eastern Europe.

          7                 The second was a woman who had been

          8  living for five years in New York City, and hadn't

          9  seen her brother in five years, and he happened to

         10  be at the arts festival, and he came out and saw him

         11  face-to-face and interacted with him for the first

         12  time in five years and was so excited and she was

         13  almost brought to tears at the ability to see her

         14  brother like this.

         15                 So, I think that it's really those

         16  human elements that you need to make this make

         17  sense. If you can have a grandmother -- if you give

         18  your grandmother a laptop and explain to her how to

         19  view a webpage so she can see pictures of her

         20  grandkids, and show her how to do that outside in

         21  the park, you know, on a nice sunny day. I mean, I

         22  think that's exactly the right sort of thing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Thank you, panel. We have lots of
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          2  work to be done and we look forward to your input.

          3  Thank you.

          4                 The next panel is John Logan from

          5  Tropos Networks, Marcos Lara from Public Internet

          6  Project, Dan Biederman, Bryant Park and 34th Street,

          7  and George Towuley, who is also with Bryant Park,

          8  34th Street BIDs.

          9                 Who would like to begin? Go right

         10  ahead.

         11                 MR. LOGAN: Thank you, Chairwoman

         12  Brewer, Chairwoman Foster, on behalf of Tropos

         13  Network, it's a privilege to appear before you this

         14  afternoon. Tropos makes the equipment and the

         15  technology for WiFi Networks. I think the previous

         16  panels have set forth very clearly what that

         17  equipment is. It's essentially a router and antenna

         18  about the size of a bread box, which is posted on a

         19  street lamp, a traffic light, or a other

         20  infrastructure to blend in very discretely, and in

         21  the context of your hearing today honors the

         22  integrity of the park environment.

         23                 Tropos is the technology provider for

         24  the Philadelphia Project, which the City Council in

         25  Philadelphia awarded to Earlthlink on last Friday.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Excuse me for a

          3  second, John. Could everyone be quiet in here,

          4  please? Thank you.

          5                 MR. LOGAN: We're also a partner with

          6  Earthlink Annaheim Project, as well as the Google

          7  Earthlink Project in San Francisco.

          8                 One sees very clearly what's going on

          9  in terms of getting access to the wider population

         10  to everyone, and in fact, everyone embraces that as

         11  an important public policy. You see why this

         12  wireless network, this wireless mesh is important

         13  because it will always cost enormously. You don't

         14  dig up the streets. You don't have zoning

         15  regulations. So, you have that aspect lowering the

         16  cost which gets passed on to a consumer. Then at the

         17  same time, every laptop made today and sold in the

         18  United States has the computer chip for you to be

         19  able to pick it up.

         20                 Our thought, our perspective, in

         21  terms of how important this hearing is, and

         22  commending your efforts, as well as the Parks

         23  Department, comes from our experience in

         24  Philadelphia. Love Park was the pilot project for

         25  WiFi, and it brought Wi-Fi and broadband to several
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          2  interest groups. One is those who came to the park

          3  and used it; secondly is the City workers who

          4  service the park, and are able to access their own

          5  network, but just as significantly were the people

          6  who live around the neighborhoods. Love Park is an

          7  example to where businesses and people who would not

          8  otherwise have had WiFi, broadband access, getting

          9  it, and in fact the award to Earthlink on Friday

         10  demonstrates how possible it is to bring competition

         11  to getting Internet access to everyone.

         12                 In that context you're hearing about

         13  how one brings Internet access to the parks, we view

         14  as a broader challenge, how to bring it to everyone,

         15  and in that sense, our plea is that, and, again,

         16  both the Parks Department and the previous panel

         17  noted it very clearly, is you have to have fair

         18  access by any competitor, but most importantly it

         19  cannot cost so much as to defeat the purpose. That

         20  is the fees are so high, or if there is a

         21  perspective that the City is going to gain large

         22  revenues from it, we question really the goal of

         23  bringing both competition and broadband to everyone

         24  is really going to work.

         25                 Those thoughts, again, Tropos
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          2  commends both Committees and both Chairwomen for

          3  their efforts here, and let me turn to my

          4  colleagues.

          5                 MR. BIEDERMAN: I second John's

          6  comments. It's great that you're having this

          7  hearing. I have no written testimony, and at times

          8  I'll turn to my colleague here who is the technical

          9  expert.  I'm the generalist. I'm as ill-informed

         10  technically as Council Member Foster is. I'm way

         11  over the line for technical competence 52. In our

         12  office, those under 45 --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I'm 54, Dan. Give

         14  me a break.

         15                 MR. BIEDERMAN: You're much better

         16  than I am then, if you're current. I haven't caught

         17  up yet, Council Member Brewer.

         18                 The reason we came to WiFi, I was

         19  going to LA, somebody told me, you've got to see the

         20  Patio outside the University of Southern California

         21  Business School. There are a bunch of students

         22  pecking away on laptops connected into plugs into

         23  the wall. When I came back, I told George and his

         24  colleagues, I want this in Bryant Park, and being

         25  under the age, they were all under 30, they said we
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          2  got something much better we learned about, WiFi,

          3  and that's the way we should do it, so people should

          4  use the Internet for free anywhere in Bryant Park.

          5                 We've had it for four years, it

          6  covers all six acres. We are -- George, two antennas

          7  and a base station?

          8                 MR. TOWULEY: Yes.

          9                 MR. BIEDERMAN: So three locations it

         10  comes from. Annual cost, roughly $20,000, if you

         11  include no percentage of George's salary. He's our

         12  head of IT, so he does a bunch of other things, but

         13  he does run the network, which he estimates takes

         14  only a couple percent of his time a week. You're

         15  going to hear from Marcos in a second who is our

         16  operator. So, if the entities you're going to work

         17  with that are allied to local parks happen to have a

         18  bit of a staff and somebody who is their computer

         19  expert, that's one way to lower Administrative

         20  costs, although you also need someone like Marcos,

         21  who you'll hear about in a second. Two-hundred fifty

         22  users a day right now. Most of them are between

         23  appointments. Young people between appointments know

         24  that Bryant Park is web-enabled. People at lunch who

         25  don't want to be out of touch of their computers
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          2  more than a couple of minutes, and therefore with

          3  their cell phone and computer are totally wired, and

          4  therefore lengthen their stay in Bryant Park to two

          5  or three hours on a nice day, which is terrific. And

          6  then we'd be at Starbucks, because we're free and

          7  they're not. So, the people who might otherwise sit

          8  in Starbucks all day come to us if the weather is

          9  nice.

         10                 The sponsors, and this is to Council

         11  Member Brewer's recent question, how might this be

         12  afforded. We started with Intel and now have Google,

         13  and obviously these are wealthy companies, and I

         14  think some of that we are advantaged by what Bryant

         15  Park is and its site, but I have a feeling those

         16  companies would equally be pleased to help poorer

         17  parks in neighborhoods with less fame than Bryant

         18  Park to catch up. And those sponsorships have made

         19  it profitable for us to run this operation. It

         20  doesn't cost us anything, it's very much on the

         21  other side. And we have a chart of usership and

         22  we're very low tech. I brought one copy of this

         23  chart, but we will e-mail it to the Council members,

         24  if you give us a list of all of the members of the

         25  Committee or whatever. You can see it going up from
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          2  virtually nothing in '02 when we started to peaks

          3  last summer in the 250 person per day range, and

          4  this summer George predicts it will be three or

          5  four-hundred people per day average, and we've even

          6  had a few days in May.

          7                 Any other comments on this?

          8                 MR. TOWULEY: I actually don't have

          9  anything else to add. I'm sorry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You need to

         11  introduce yourself.

         12                 MR. TOWULEY: I'm George Towuley. I'm

         13  the IT Director for Bryant Park and 34th Street

         14  Partnership.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right, we may

         16  have questions. Do you want to speak?

         17                 MR. LARA: Yes. My name is Marcos

         18  Lara, and I am the Founder of the Public Internet

         19  Project. I just wanted to say thank you and

         20  recognize Gale Brewer and Helen Foster and the rest

         21  of the Committee members.

         22                 I have a prepared speech. You can

         23  read it at your leisure. I'm just going to summarize

         24  it and spare us all the drama.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you,
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          2  Marcos.

          3                 MR. LARA: I was privileged in 2001 to

          4  join Bryant Park in helping design and launch the

          5  Bryant Park Wireless Network. I'm here today to

          6  demonstrate my belief and my support for the public

          7  City public parks, and the Technology Committee and

          8  helping achieve our goal of a WiFi City.

          9                 The keys to success that I have

         10  discovered in working with Bryant Park and working

         11  with NYC Wireless, a wonderful organization of

         12  community run, community-supported individuals in

         13  New York City, is that the network has to be free to

         14  the user, it has to be reliable and first and

         15  foremost, speaking to Council Member Foster's, it

         16  has to be easy.

         17                 I have noticed in watching this

         18  evolve for many years that there has to be a shift

         19  in mindset in the way that most organizations

         20  approach the deployment of WiFi. Amenity franchise

         21  models don't work, it is not a hotdog stand where

         22  you, or a coffee stand where you turn to Starbucks

         23  and say, here, you'll rent my space and you'll pay

         24  me a percentage and I'll let you here and you'll

         25  make revenue and you'll go. It's not really working
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          2  out like that, in my experience, and has proven

          3  that.

          4                 New technologies are emerging.

          5  Technologies that have not been considered at this

          6  table, or actually been spoken against, and that is

          7  advertising models. A lot of the advertising models

          8  that have been spoken about rely on splash page,

          9  which would be very low volumes, would not support

         10  the traffic levels required to earn money, but there

         11  are new technologies emerging, and those

         12  technologies are some technologies that we're trying

         13  to initiate and hatch in Bryant Park at this time,

         14  where the advertising would be generated on every

         15  page, and that way the park and/or the quasi

         16  organization that's helping organize it can reap

         17  benefits not just on one page that one user visits

         18  on one day, but every page that gets displayed via

         19  the park network, creating vast sources of revenue.

         20                 Another thing that the Parks

         21  Department has to look into is frequency

         22  coordination. These technologies are for public

         23  consumption. If these technologies are not closely

         24  monitored, they can step on each other's toes, on

         25  each other's toes and limit their quality. So, we
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          2  have to as an organization and as foster -- I want

          3  to say stewards of the technology, be careful in the

          4  technologies in how we deploy them, that we are

          5  intelligent, we just don't throw them out there like

          6  dice on a table, that they have to be designed

          7  properly.

          8                 The last one is corporate sponsorship

          9  is a possibility in high profile locations. And may

         10  be enough, based on our experiences, that may be

         11  able to carry one or two very high profile locations

         12  to be able to learn enough money to pay for the

         13  smaller locations.

         14                 The last aspect of it is community

         15  driven. There is a new set of technologies emerging

         16  that would allow the users of the park, I mean the

         17  residents of the park, I mean the people who live

         18  nearby the park to actually provide the signal

         19  themselves, therefore creating a community not built

         20  and designed and completely owned and run by the

         21  City or the Parks Department, but coordinated by the

         22  Parks Department, but owned and run by the citizens.

         23  And they all share the network themselves, and these

         24  technologies are going to allow people to share

         25  safely.
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          2                 It is no coincidence and it did not

          3  allude us that the free Bryant Park wireless network

          4  sits in the back yard of the New York Public

          5  Library. It's the public right to knowledge that the

          6  public library represents, and Internet access and

          7  WiFi as its vehicle represents that new concept for

          8  a whole new generation, and not just restricted

          9  inside a building, that every park can become a

         10  library, that every park can become a place where

         11  people go to learn, aggregate, come together and

         12  grow. And I just wanted to thank you all for the

         13  opportunity to speak on that point and sponsor you

         14  and help you any way I can.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: First of all,

         16  thank you all. My question is this: We are trying

         17  to, first of all, congratulate you on Bryant Park

         18  and then think about how we can do this elsewhere.

         19  It's really pretty much the model, you and I think

         20  the folks at Downtown Alliance.

         21                 So, when you said it costs, six

         22  acres, about $20,000 a year, you know, to keep the

         23  IT going so-to-speak, and that's able to be done

         24  because you have the Business Improvement District.

         25                 So, I guess what Marcos was doing was
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          2  try to give some examples of how that could be done,

          3  you know, elsewhere. I just wanted to elaborate on

          4  that. One of them, of course, is to try to do what

          5  Dana was suggesting, which is maybe there is a need

          6  for some City funding for some of the smaller parts,

          7  but then when you also mentioned that Google and

          8  Intel, Earthlink may want to go elsewhere, at the

          9  same time, you know, we're always trying to do this

         10  broadband ala New York. As you know, we're going to

         11  the Bronx first actually, in terms of a broadband

         12  task force, and that could help as well as the

         13  parks, as well as the communities.

         14                 But I just want to know if you could

         15  help us think from the Parks Department's

         16  perspective, give them, which is what they're asking

         17  for, some suggestions as to how do you think some of

         18  these other parks could capitalize on what you're

         19  doing; how should the Parks Department be looking at

         20  this?

         21                 MR. BIEDERMAN: The experience we've

         22  had with selling Intel and Google on this, I would

         23  think keeping the cost down by picking a few parks

         24  that have large number of residents around them and

         25  aren't too large, as a consortium of a borough's
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          2  parks to approach one of these entities, and then

          3  say you will get credit as a WiFi enabler of the

          4  Borough of the Bronx's first five parks to have WiFi

          5  would be the right approach.

          6                 There are always problems when you go

          7  beyond a park as small as ours. We said that in a

          8  recent article in Crains that treated this issue,

          9  but there's probably some way, given the way, I hate

         10  to say this in a public hearing, but the way Yahoo,

         11  Google, and Intel and companies of this kind spend

         12  money to put something together that would catch

         13  their attention. I don't think we were the best

         14  sellers of this project and yet somehow we did catch

         15  their attention, at a time when Bryant Park wasn't

         16  quite as well known as it is now, we started trying

         17  to sell this about six years ago.

         18                 So, I think it would be possible to

         19  get some private money into this, and less somebody

         20  say to you, when you raise that possibility, well

         21  Bryant Park, Bryant Park is a typical, it's right in

         22  the heart of Midtown Manhattan, and like numerous

         23  times when we were still in the fundraising

         24  business, were turned down on the grounds that we

         25  were too surrounded by wealthy patrons, or had too
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          2  much access to wealth and these companies were

          3  looking -- and foundations by the way, like the Ford

          4  Foundation, were looking for more sympathetic

          5  projects that didn't have enough money in the

          6  neighborhood. So, I would say there's a real chance

          7  of private money.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I want to also

          9  thank John Logan, because I know he's smiling

         10  listening to this conversation, because we have

         11  tried to do this together and I think Parks has

         12  learned a lot in the last couple of years and maybe

         13  they'll be more interested in some of these

         14  innovations, right, John?

         15                 But my question to you is, do you

         16  think a broadband structure, you know, Citywide

         17  would help enable some of this deployment in the

         18  parks, or you sort of follow-up on what is discussed

         19  here at Bryant, and also wireless NYC with some

         20  beaming in? So I'm just wondering, to sort of

         21  elaborate on what you were suggesting for these

         22  parks that are not part of the Central Business

         23  District?

         24                 MR. LOGAN: Council Member Brewer, we

         25  have seen several models work. Some of which emanate
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          2  from investment by the business community for the

          3  particular area, as well as a commitment, and beyond

          4  large entities of Google or Tropos, there are

          5  service providers who will come in based on revenue

          6  predictions, whether subscribership or through

          7  advertisement that are willing to make an investment

          8  in an infrastructure to bring it. And we think that

          9  the fundamental of why everyone is going to come and

         10  get more broadband is affordability, and there is

         11  such a large gap between what anyone pays from a

         12  legacy provider now to what we're talking about

         13  here. So, again, I think there's a range of

         14  interests that are willing to go beyond projects and

         15  commit to the investment.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Marcos, when you

         17  say frequency coordination, what do you mean by

         18  that?

         19                 MR. LARA: Well, let me see if I can

         20  make an analogy for you.

         21                 If I were to, early you were speaking

         22  and other people were speaking at the same time --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And I told them

         24  to shut up.

         25                 MR. LARA: You told them to shut up,
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          2  but who enforced it?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Got it. The

          4  Sergeant-At-Arms.

          5                 MR. LARA: The Sergeant-At-Arms.

          6  Frequency coordination is the Sergeant-At-Arms.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So you need a

          8  Sergeant-At-Arms?

          9                 MR. LARA: Well, everybody buys one of

         10  these routers in Staples, right? They buy a $50

         11  router. They throw it in the house and they turn it

         12  on.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I have one in my

         14  house.

         15                 MR. LARA: Okay, you have one in your

         16  house. Well, if you didn't go in and -- well, you

         17  might have looked what's inside it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Oh, no. I didn't.

         19                 MR. LARA: Okay. So, yours just comes

         20  at its default channel. It's all talk in the same

         21  room, right?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right.

         23                 MR. LARA: If you go in there and you

         24  look at your settings, it's possible for you to

         25  switch to another room, and go and take this
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          2  off-line, so-to-speak. So that way the conversation

          3  over here doesn't interfere with the conversation

          4  over there. And without technology to properly

          5  segregate and put people in conference rooms,

          6  everyone is going to be talking over each other, and

          7  no one will be able to hear anything. Is it an

          8  effective kind of analogy?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So, in other

         10  words, we need to think about this one, doing all

         11  this deployment.

         12                 MR. LARA: Absolutely. There are

         13  technology -- well, if it's a professionally run

         14  network like we run in Bryant Park, well, then, we

         15  take all these things into account. Tropos takes all

         16  these things into account, it's just part of good

         17  design.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So, back to what

         19  Dan Biederman was stating, when we are thinking

         20  about this issue, we need to think about that and

         21  also, you know, it takes either sponsorship or

         22  funding to be able to do that. Somebody has to be

         23  the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         24                 MR. LARA: There are technologies

         25  emerging on the horizon, new technologies, part of a
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          2  second bubble, if you will, or second wave of

          3  Internet stuff, which is now taking advantage of

          4  wireless, enabling consumers to build a network, and

          5  coordinating them on their behalf. So, from an easy

          6  use perspective, you just buy a router, you plug it

          7  into a wall, you install the software, and the

          8  software is going to be the Sergeant-At-Arms for

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The problem is

         11  that you're not at DoITT, and you're definitely not

         12  at the Parks Department, and there's nobody there

         13  doing this.

         14                 So, I hear you, but I think this is

         15  the reason we're having this hearing today, is to

         16  have these issues out there, and then work with the

         17  City agencies to try to have like 15,000 Marcos's

         18  making all this happen.

         19                 MR. LARA: Well, there are actually

         20  free services that run on the Internet, but I

         21  understand your point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yeah, all right.

         23  Thank you very much. And the discussion is just

         24  beginning.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MR. LARA: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The next panel is

          4  Allison Farina, New Yorkers for Parks, Doug Frazier,

          5  Urban Telephone, Andy McCaddon from IBM, and Rustain

          6  Nurkhaner from DT Consulting.

          7                 Is anybody else joining Allison? Is

          8  Urban Telephone here? Okay, Doug I know.

          9                 Andy McCaddon from IBM here? And

         10  Rustain Nurkhaner from DTI Consulting? No? They

         11  left, okay. Then we're going to ask two other people

         12  to join in, from Hawthorne, Frank Matarazzo and Tony

         13  Matarazzo also, if you're in the room.

         14                 All right, Allison, go ahead.

         15                 MS. FARINA: Thank you, Chairwoman

         16  Brewer, and Chairwoman Foster, as well.

         17                 Good afternoon. My name is Allison

         18  Farina, and I am Counsel and Director of Government

         19  Relations in New Yorkers for Parks, a Citywide parks

         20  advocacy organization working to bring increased

         21  parks services and safer parks to every New York

         22  City neighborhood.

         23                 There are two reasons why New Yorkers

         24  for Parks supports the promotion of wireless

         25  Internet service in public parks.
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          2                 It promotes both education and park

          3  safety. First, parks are already our City's greatest

          4  natural outdoor classrooms. For years they have been

          5  places that teachers have brought students to learn

          6  about nature or simply to learn while immersed in a

          7  natural setting.

          8                 From the Brooklyn Center for the

          9  Urban Environment in Prospect Park to the Alley Pond

         10  Adventure Program in Queens. Parks are valuable

         11  venues for teaching and learning. We are expanding

         12  the borders for all New Yorkers by providing

         13  everyone a chance to surf the web in a park.

         14                 Secondly, in addition to providing a

         15  state-of-the-art means of knowledge to students and

         16  members of the public alike, having a park feature

         17  such as Internet access will promote park use. As

         18  most people know, a well-used park is a safe park.

         19  Surely during fair weather we can expect that more

         20  people will go to a park that has Internet access.

         21  People populate indoor places, like Starbucks for

         22  example, for several hours at a time precisely

         23  because they can do work on or send e-mails from

         24  their laptop computers. Having the ability to use a

         25  computer in a park currently attracts many people
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          2  into their local parks. A perfect example of this

          3  has been mentioned, is Bryant Park.

          4                 By offering the public the benefit of

          5  wireless access in parks, we are guaranteeing a

          6  higher volume of park users in all weather.

          7  Increased uses of benches and lawns for relaxing and

          8  working on laptop computers will lead to more

          9  frequent use of park bathrooms, drinking fountains,

         10  and playgrounds, among other features. So,

         11  therefore, it is imperative that the City provides

         12  additional maintenance funding to parks so that they

         13  can remain green and clean year-round. By ensuring

         14  that the Parks Department's financial needs are met,

         15  New Yorkers can expect a higher level of park

         16  services, not only through wireless Internet access,

         17  but also through dependably clean and safe

         18  facilities.

         19                 And finally, I just want to add that,

         20  has been mentioned, that we're a Citywide group and

         21  we always are advocating for Citywide access to all

         22  services, so we would like to see the availability

         23  of this service in all parks in all five boroughs.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Sir, nice to see you.

          4                 MR. FRAZIER: Nice to see you. How you

          5  doing?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: We're ready to

          7  hear you testify.

          8                 MR. FRAZIER: Okay, great. Well, first

          9  of all, I want to thank you for inviting me to come

         10  here today. I bring greetings to all of you from --

         11                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: Please state your

         12  name for the record.

         13                 MR. FRAZIER: Oh, great. The

         14  Sergeant-At-Arms said to state my name.

         15                 Doug Frazier is my name. I'm with

         16  Urban Telephone and Video. We're a broadband company

         17  that is located at 369 East 149th Street in the

         18  Boogie Down Bronx.

         19                 We are a franchise provider. We've

         20  been providing broadband services, via fiberoptics

         21  and wireless for the last 12 years here in New York

         22  City.

         23                 And I'm really excited about the

         24  wonderful things that I see going on here today.

         25                 I'm a 55-year-old black man, in case
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          2  you haven't noticed, who grew up in -- I was born in

          3  Harlem Hospital, I went to public school here in

          4  Harlem, the same public school that my mother and

          5  father attended.

          6                 So, I am a person who, as a young

          7  kid, I can't think of a better place to grow up than

          8  New York City, if you have a young and inquisitive

          9  mind.

         10                 Now, having said that, having the

         11  Internet Initiative for anyone in any manner, I'm

         12  very supportive of it.

         13                 I grew up in Harlem where in 1965 we

         14  had cable television in our apartment. There wasn't

         15  much on it, but we had it, they did have something

         16  that we don't see here today anymore, it had a box

         17  that had fine-tuning. And some maniac decided that

         18  we don't need fine-tuning in life anymore, and I

         19  disagree with that. I think one of the reasons why

         20  we have all these problems is because there is no

         21  fine tuning.

         22                 Now, having said that, our company

         23  provides a service to 55 apartment builders in the

         24  South Bronx.

         25                 We also provide WiFi service to a
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          2  park in the South Bronx that has not been mentioned

          3  here, St. Mary's Park. We provide Wi-Fi service

          4  there, kind of through the way that one of the

          5  gentlemen spoke about earlier, we have the park is

          6  surrounded by buildings that we serve, so we shoot

          7  the service into the park. I have to tell you, in

          8  the four years that we've done it, I've never seen

          9  anybody in the park with a laptop.

         10                 So, there are certain communities and

         11  places where people don't have these kinds of

         12  services and I think that providing service in a

         13  park is one of the ways that maybe you can get the

         14  young kids excited about the service because they go

         15  to the park everyday, and most of the parks in the

         16  poor neighborhoods have something called the PAL,

         17  and the PAL, which I went to and went to myself as a

         18  kid, my kids have gone through, provides a lot of

         19  things for kids to do and play in. If they have an

         20  Internet service, I think that would be quite

         21  important.

         22                 Our company is looking to help out.

         23  Again, we provide a service a service in St. Mary's

         24  Park free of charge. We didn't even know there was

         25  an RFP for that, but, again, we think it's more
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          2  important to provide a service to the community and

          3  to make sure that people have access to what is fast

          4  becoming the way that people are communicating, and

          5  to not have that access is a detriment.

          6                 So, we are in favor of the City in

          7  some manner funding some of these initiatives into

          8  the parks so that people in other communities

          9  outside of Lower Manhattan can get access to

         10  Internet service.

         11                 I would like to conclude by saying

         12  that a lot of the reasons why you have, you don't

         13  have service in these underserved neighborhoods is,

         14  I believe is because of the companies that do

         15  provide the service aren't interested in going into

         16  those particular neighborhoods, except when they

         17  think there is an economic opportunity. And when

         18  there is an economic opportunity, they come out of

         19  the woodwork. But I think we should be looking to

         20  utilize the people who have grown up in this

         21  wonderful town, which is a very sophisticated town

         22  with a lot of talented people, and you should try to

         23  find a way to foster usage with people who are from

         24  the communities who actually know the people.

         25  Because, you know, let's talk about under-served
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          2  communities and nobody realizes that there are

          3  people who live in those communities who have been

          4  underserved. They are human beings, just like all

          5  the rest of us. They have been underserved and they

          6  know it.

          7                 Now, people here may think that they

          8  don't, but they all know. They know that they're not

          9  getting the best schooling, not getting the best

         10  protection, they know that when the system comes to

         11  talk to them is usually trouble, not help. And we

         12  need to turn that around so that the people in those

         13  communities understand that the City and the powers

         14  that be are here to help them. And I think that's

         15  very important.

         16                 About 16 years ago I was testifying

         17  in a room over there that was because there was red

         18  lining in the cable industry. And if you look around

         19  and read the trades, the same cable guys are

         20  complaining that the phone guys are red lining the

         21  industry when they are the ones who invented it. And

         22  a very nice man called the hearing over there in the

         23  other room, and we were able to get a franchise,

         24  because that man was Mr. Reverend Foster.

         25                 So, we have not given up the ship. We

                                                            97

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  have been fighting for 22 years to provide all kinds

          3  of services. We provide broadband into, as I said,

          4  many apartment buildings. We put WiFi in every

          5  building free of charge for the residents of the

          6  community, and we would like to continue to work and

          7  we want to let you know that we're soldiers and

          8  we're here ready to fight and do whatever needs to

          9  be necessary.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Allison, I have a question. At the

         13  end you talked about ensuring that the Park

         14  Department's financial needs are met, and I agree

         15  with that. But I think what we've heard today is,

         16  with the exception of Doug Frazier, and people who

         17  are extremely innovative, and know as much as he

         18  does, which are very few --

         19                 MR. FRAZIER: Is that a compliment?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It is a

         21  compliment.

         22                 MR. FRAZIER: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Always a

         24  compliment, Mr. Frazier. Always a compliment.

         25                 And thank you for coming to our Bronx
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          2  meeting on broadband.

          3                 MR. FRAZIER: Any time. Any time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: My question,

          5  though, is how do you as an organization, in terms

          6  of folks who are advocating as the Parks, I think

          7  you heard today that this is not something that will

          8  necessarily produce revenue, and that we may have to

          9  think in terms of creative sponsorships. Although

         10  I'm very against advertising in the parks.

         11                 MR. FRAZIER: Me too.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Or figuring out

         13  some, I hate to even mention the word, but some

         14  government funding.

         15                 So, I'm just wondering if you either

         16  have thought about this previously, or based on the

         17  testimony today, do you have any thoughts? Because

         18  this isn't going to happen in communities unless you

         19  have Doug Frazier doing it in places, because he's

         20  committed, it's not going to happen in some of these

         21  other communities. I'm just wondering what you think

         22  about that challenge?

         23                 MS. FARINA: Well, the first thing,

         24  I'm going to give Doug Frazier my business card,

         25  because we love to know about people like this who
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          2  exist.

          3                 I think there's an overall need for

          4  more maintenance across the board in so many

          5  different areas of parks, and pointing out that

          6  parks are going to get more usage because of

          7  something like this, then the responsibility for

          8  this falls on our, of course, our organization and

          9  the rest of the City's shoulders to figure out a way

         10  how to fund it.

         11                 If it's by a regular maintenance

         12  increase that we are each and every year coming, and

         13  this year we have a $9 million ask for an increase

         14  to the Department for general maintenance, and

         15  hopefully we could add this in as something that

         16  could be covered in the future.

         17                 Obviously we learned today the

         18  $20,000 figure is very useful, and I'd love to find

         19  out more specifically if that is accurate for

         20  wherever you are throughout the City. But anything

         21  creatively we can find out. To answer your question

         22  directly, we have not specifically looked at precise

         23  figures for each parks, but we would love to learn

         24  more and be helpful in any way we can.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Because I
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          2  think this is a challenge. Obviously NYC Wireless

          3  has some ideas as to how it could be done, but it

          4  does seem to me that with all due respect to the

          5  Parks Department, it is moving very slowly. And, so,

          6  the question is, as an advocacy group, how we can

          7  work together to solve some of their challenges.

          8                 I think they're very open to ideas,

          9  but the question is to kind of up the ante and step

         10  up to the plate and state, you know, we have some

         11  ideas about funding this, we have the interest in

         12  making sure that all parks get active.

         13                 I think in terms of what, Doug, you

         14  were stating is that if there isn't a knowledge in a

         15  place like St. Mary's that this could be a resource

         16  for people, for moms or for students, is that we

         17  have to, I don't know, if I was involved, I would

         18  suggest that we should rent out laptops, we should

         19  as a community bring in computers for youth or

         20  whatever and say we're going to work on this

         21  together.

         22                 Because the idea is to make it

         23  accessible for needs that need to be met and not

         24  just have it.

         25                 MR. FRAZIER: I agree. I don't think
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          2  we should have children standing on line to go on

          3  line. Like I stood on line as a teenager in the

          4  public housing projects to pick up food from the

          5  government, we shouldn't ask children today to stand

          6  on line to go on line. I think we should figure out

          7  a way. We can figure out how to do bonds and taxes

          8  for people who are perceived as not needing help,

          9  then maybe we should figure out some type of way, I

         10  don't know how, to help the people in the community,

         11  as well.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you both

         13  very much.

         14                 MR. FRAZIER: You're welcome.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: This concludes

         16  our hearing, but not the end of the discussion on

         17  how to make the parks wireless. And I think we have

         18  an opening with the Parks Department to both speed

         19  up their process and to try to meet some of the

         20  challenges, and we look forward to everybody's

         21  input. This is not a one-person job, it's a whole

         22  community, those of us who care about the access and

         23  level playing field, and making sure that everybody

         24  can move into the next century.

         25                 It's such a pleasure to work with the
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          2  Chair of the Parks Committee. And thank you all very

          3  much.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 2:55 p.m.)
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